# Dallas Dental Hygienists' Association Proposed Bylaws

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ARTICLE I NAME	- 	3
ARTICLE II PURP	POSE AND MISSION	3
SECTION 1:	Purpose	3
SECTION 2:	MISSION	3
ARTICLE III SUPI	REMACY CLAUSE	3
ARTICLE IV MEN	ИBERS	3
SECTION 1:	CATEGORIES OF MEMBERSHIP	3
SECTION 2:	RIGHTS, DUTIES, AND PRIVILEGES	5
SECTION 3.	RESIGNATION	5
SECTION 4.	REINSTATEMENT	5
ARTICLE V DUES	S AND ASSESSMENTS	5
SECTION 1.	DETERMINATION	5
SECTION 2.	NON-PAYMENT OF DUES	6
ARTICLE VI OFFI	CERS	6
SECTION 1.	OFFICERS AND DUTIES	6
SECTION 2.	QUALIFICATIONS	7
SECTION 3.	Nominations	7
SECTION 4.	ELECTIONS	7
SECTION 5.	TERM OF OFFICE	7
SECTION 6.	RESIGNATION OR REMOVAL OF OFFICERS	7
SECTION 7.	VACANCIES	8
ARTICLE VII BOA	ARD OF DIRECTORS	8
SECTION 1.	AUTHORITY AND RESPONSIBILITY	8
SECTION 2.	COMPOSITION	8
SECTION 3.	Directors	ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEFINED.
SECTION 4.	Meetings	8
SECTION 5.	Quorum	
SECTION 6.	BALLOTS	9
ARTICLE VIII EXE	ECUTIVE COMMITTEE	9
SECTION 1.	AUTHORITY AND RESPONSIBILITY	9
SECTION 2.	COMPOSITION	9
SECTION 3.	Meetings	10
ARTICLE IX COU	NCILS/COMMITTEES	ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEFINED.
SECTION 1.	STANDING COUNCILS AND COMMITTEES	ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEFINED.
SECTION 2.	SPECIAL COMMITTEES	ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEFINED.
SECTION 3.	AUTHORITY/RESPONSIBILITY	ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEFINED.
SECTION 4.	COMPOSITION/MEMBERSHIP	ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEFINED.
SECTION 5.	POLICIES AND PROCEDURES	ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEFINED.
ARTICLE X DELE	GATES AND ALTERNATES TO TDHA	11
SECTION 1.	Number	11
SECTION 2.	QUALIFICATIONS	11
SECTION 3.	NOMINATIONS AND ELECTIONS	11
SECTION 4.	DUTIES OF ADHA DELEGATES AND ALTERNATE DELEGATES	11
SECTION 5.	Reporting	
SECTION 6.	RESIGNATION OR REMOVAL	11
SECTION 7.	VACANCIES	12
ARTICLE XI GEN	ERAL PROVISIONS	12
SECTION 1.	Bonding	12
SECTION 2.	Scholarships	12
SECTION 3.	FISCAL YEAR	12
Section 4.	ETHICS	

SECTION 5. USE OF ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION	12
Section 6. Authorization for Publications	ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEFINED.
ARTICLE XII INDEMNIFICATION	13
ARTICLE XIII DISCIPLINARY ACTION/TERMINATION OF MEMBERSHIP	13
SECTION 1. GROUNDS FOR DISCIPLINE	13
Section 2. Procedures	13
ARTICLE XIV PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY	13
ARTICLE XV AMENDMENTS	13
SECTION 1. PROPOSED AMENDMENTS	13
SECTION 2. NOTICE	14
SECTION 3. EFFECTIVE DATE	14
ARTICLE XVI DISSOLUTION	14

1 2 3 4 5		ARTICLE I NAME the corporation shall be defined in the Articles of Incorporation. The terms or "DDHA" shall be used in this document.  ARTICLE II PURPOSE AND MISSION
6	Section 1:	Purpose
7	The purpose of	of DDHA shall be set forth in the Association's Articles of Incorporation.
8	Section 2:	Mission
9 10 11 12		of the Dallas Dental Hygienists' Association is to advance the dental hygiene issure access to quality oral health care and to represent and promote the interests enists.
13		ARTICLE III SUPREMACY CLAUSE
14 15 16 17 18 19 20	which is a con of this Associa law of the Ass Changes adop	corporated component body of the Texas Dental Hygienists' Association (TDHA) estituent body of the American Dental Hygienists' Association (ADHA). The Bylaws ention shall not be in conflict with the Bylaws of ADHA, which shall be the supreme esociation. A current copy of these Bylaws shall be on file with TDHA and ADHA. Noted by the ADHA that are required to be in constituent bylaws may be into these bylaws without vote of the DDHA membership.
21		A DITICLE IV MACMADEDO
22		ARTICLE IV MEMBERS
23	Section 1:	Categories of Membership
24		eeting membership qualifications in American Dental Hygienists' Association
25	•	become members of DDHA and TDHA upon assignment or selection. The
26 27	•	of the DDHA shall be composed of the following categories:
28	a. Voting	Members  Professional Members. Professional membership may be granted to any
29	1.	individual who
30		a) has either earned a certificate or professional degree in dental hygiene
31		granted pursuant to dental hygiene program offered by an accredited
32		college or institution of higher education, or is licensed to practice dental
33		hygiene in the United States under the provision of a "grandfather
34		clause";
35		b) is licensed to practice in any state, territory or possession of the United
36		States if such license is required for the practice of dental hygiene; and
37		c) agrees to maintain membership in a Constituent as well as a Component
38 39	2.	(if such exist where the member is licensed, practices or resides).
40	۷.	<u>Senior status</u> . Professional members who have reached their full retirement age as set by the Social Security Administration and have either been an Active

- 41 member of the Association for an aggregate total of thirty (30) years, or twenty-42 five (25) consecutive years may apply for Senior status.
  - 3. <u>Members with Disabilities</u>. Professional members who are unable to work due to a verified disability may apply for Disabled status. All such applications must be verified by such member's Constituent and/or Component and must be accompanied by proof of eligibility each year.
  - 4. <u>Life Members</u>. Any professional member who has made outstanding contributions to the dental hygiene profession and to the TDHA shall be eligible for Life membership upon nomination and election by the House of Delegates. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all TDHA Past Presidents completing a full term in office shall automatically be granted Life membership.

# b. Non-voting Members

- International Members. International membership may be granted to any individual who
  - a) resides outside of the United States; and
  - b) holds a valid license to practice as a dental hygienist.
- 2. Student Members. Student membership may be granted to any student
  - a) currently enrolled in an accredited dental hygiene program; or
  - b) who has graduated from an accredited dental hygiene program and is currently pursuing a baccalaureate or graduate degree complementary to a career in dental hygiene in an accredited college or institution of higher education.

Application shall be made through the Student Chapter of ADHA.

- 3. <u>Supporting Members</u>. Supporting membership may be granted to any licensed dental hygienist who
  - a) is not employed in a dental hygiene-related career; and
  - b) agrees to maintain membership in a Constituent as well as a Component (if such exist where the member is licensed or resides).
- 4. <u>Honorary Members</u>. Honorary membership may be granted by DDHA Board of Directors to any individual who
  - a) is not a dental hygienist;
  - b) has made outstanding contributions to dental hygiene or dental health; and
  - c) has been nominated by the Board of Directors.
  - Nominations shall be submitted by the Member Services Council to the Board of Directors, which may, by unanimous vote, recommend such election to the DDHA BOD. A three-fourths (3/4) vote of the DDHA BOD is required for election as Honorary Member. Honorary Members shall not be obligated to pay dues to DDHA.
- 5. <u>Allied Members.</u> Allied membership may be granted to any individual who supports the purposes and mission of the Association and who is not otherwise qualified for any other class of membership. Allied Members shall pay one-half (1/2) the active member dues.

84 6. <u>Corporate Members</u>. Corporate membership may be granted to any corporation, partnership, institution or organization that supports the Association's mission.

# 87 Section 2: Rights, Duties, and Privileges

- 88 a. **Rights**. All members shall be entitled to attend the member meetings and social functions of the Association.
- 90 b. **Duties.** Voting and supporting members shall be members of ADHA and TDHA.
- 91 c. **Privileges.** Privileges of voting members:
  - 1. The right to vote on all matters requiring a vote by the membership.
  - 2. Eligibility for election as a Delegate or Alternate Delegate to the TDHA House of Delegates and eligibility for election or appointment to any office, council/committee, Board of Directors or similar position in TDHA, if otherwise qualified.
  - 3. Subscription to the TDHA publications.
    - Eligibility for election as ADHA Delegate or Alternate Delegate and eligibility for election or appointment to any office, council/committee, Board of Trustees in ADHA, if otherwise qualified.
- d. Non-voting members shall have all rights and privileges of membership, except votingand holding office.

# 103 Section 3. Resignation

92

93

94

95

96

97

98

99

100

115116

- Membership in the Association may terminate by voluntary resignation or otherwise in
- accordance with these Bylaws. All rights, privileges, and interests of a member in the
- 106 Association shall cease upon termination of membership for any reason. Any member may, by
- giving written notice of such intention, resign from membership.

# 108 Section 4. Reinstatement

- Members who have resigned or whose membership has been terminated for non-payment of
- dues or assessments may be reinstated upon:
- 111 a. payment of dues and any assessments;
- 112 b. application to the ADHA; and
- 113 c. meeting such additional terms and conditions as may be established by the ADHA Board of Directors.

# ARTICLE V DUES AND ASSESSMENTS

# 117 Section 1. Determination

- 118 The amount of DDHA annual dues, fees, and assessments for all members of the Association,
- and the time for paying such dues and assessments, if any, shall be determined by the
- Membership. A two-thirds (2/3) vote shall be required for approval of any dues increase.
- 121 Under special circumstances, the DDHA Board of Directors may waive or reduce the DDHA
- annual dues and or assessments for any member.

# 123 Section 2. Non-payment of Dues

- 124 The membership of any member who is in default of payment of dues or assessments for more
- than 45 days, ceases to be a member of the ADHA, or otherwise becomes ineligible for
- membership, shall be terminated automatically, according to such rules or procedures as the
- ADHA Board of Directors or their designee(s) shall establish, unless such termination is delayed

128 by that Board of Directors.

# ARTICLE VI OFFICERS

# Section 1. Officers and Duties

The elected officers of the Association shall be a President, President-Elect, First Vice-President, Second Vice-President, Secretary, and a Treasurer, as described below. The duties of the Secretary or Treasurer may be assigned by the Board of Directors in whole or in part.

- a. **President.** The President shall be the principal officer of the Association and shall supervise the business affairs of the Association, subject to the direction and control of the Board of Directors. The President shall be an ex-officio member of all councils and committees, except as otherwise provided by these Bylaws. The President shall perform all duties customarily incident to the office of President and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors. The President shall appoint a parliamentarian for the Board of Directors, who may be a member of DDHA, and shall either be credentialed as a Registered Parliamentarian (or higher) or have completed a parliamentary procedure course in the past 24 months. Compensation for the parliamentarian shall be subject to Board of Directors approval. The President shall succeed to the position of Immediate Past President upon expiration of the President's term of office.
- b. **President-elect.** The President-elect shall assist the President and shall substitute for the President when required. The President-elect shall be an ex-officio member of all councils and committees, except as otherwise provided by these Bylaws. The President-elect shall perform all duties customarily incident to the office of President-elect and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors. The President-elect shall succeed to the office of President upon expiration of the President's term of office, and in the event of the death, resignation, removal, or incapacity of the President.
- c. **Vice-Presidents.** The Vice-Presidents shall each have such powers and discharge such duties as may be assigned by the Board of Directors or the President.
- d. Secretary. The Secretary shall serve as the recording officer of the Board of Directors
   and the Membership meetings and shall be the custodian of the DDHA records.
- 157 e. Treasurer. The Treasurer shall have charge of and be responsible for the maintenance of
   158 adequate books of account for the Association; shall have charge and custody of all
   159 funds of the Association and be responsible for the receipt and disbursement thereof;
   160 and shall deposit all funds of the Association in such banks or other depositories as shall
   161 be selected in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws.
- f. Immediate Past President. The Immediate Past President shall perform duties and carry
   out responsibilities as delegated by the President and the Board of Directors.

Additional Duties. All officers shall perform such duties customarily and regularly
 pertaining to the offices they hold, and as otherwise permitted by these Bylaws, the
 DDHA Facilitation Documents, and the parliamentary authority.

# Section 2. Qualifications

167

- Any voting member in good standing shall be eligible for election:
- 169 a. In order to be eligible for election as President-Elect, a member must serve a minimum of one (1) term on the Board of Directors of the Association

# 171 Section 3. Nominations

- 172 a. Nominations for elected officers shall be made by a nominating committee, following verification of their qualifications for office by the nominating committee.
- b. Further nominations may be made from the floor subject to verification of qualifications by the nominating committee.
- 176 c. No person may be nominated for elective office without their permission.

# 177 Section 4. Elections

- 178 a. All elected officers shall be elected by a majority vote of the Membership. All elections shall be by ballot, which may be electronic.
- 180 b. If there are more than two candidates for an office and no candidate receives a majority 181 vote on the first ballot, a second ballot shall be taken on the two candidates receiving 182 the highest number of votes on the first ballot, and no write-in votes shall be permitted 183 on the second ballot.

# 184 Section 5. Term of Office

- a. Elected officers, exclusive of the Treasurer and President-Elect, shall serve a term of one (1) year or until their successors are elected.
- 187 b. The President-Elect shall serve one year as President-Elect, one year as President and one year as Immediate Past President.
- 189 c. The Treasurer shall serve a two (2) year term and be limited to two (2) consecutive terms or until their successor is elected.
- 191 d. The term of office shall begin at the close of the May Membership Meeting.
- 192 e. Officers serving more than half of a full term shall be deemed to have served a full term 193 in office.

# Section 6. Resignation or Removal of Officers

- Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the President or Board of Directors. Such resignation shall take affect at the time specified or, if no time is specified, at the time of acceptance by the President. No vote of the Board shall be required.
- 200 Any officer may be removed for cause by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the body which elected said officer or by two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Board of Directors for violation of these Bylaws, the Code of Ethics of the profession, any lawful rule or practice duly

- adopted by DDHA, or any other conduct deemed by the Board of Directors to be prejudicial to the best interests of DDHA.
- 204 c. Any officer who is suspended or expelled from membership or is determined to be
   205 ineligible shall be deemed to have automatically resigned from such office upon the
   206 date the ineligibility, suspension, or expulsion becomes effective.

# Section 7. Vacancies

207

220

231

- 208 a. A vacancy in the office of President shall be filled by the President-Elect, who shall serve as President for the unexpired term and for the full term immediately following.
- 210 b. A vacancy in the office of President-Elect shall be filled by the Board of Directors.
- 211 c. A simultaneous vacancy in the offices of President and President-Elect shall cause the 212 First Vice-President to serve as President for the unexpired term.
- 213 d. A vacancy in the office of First Vice President shall be filled by the Second Vice President.
- e. A vacancy in the office of Second Vice President, Secretary or Treasurer shall be filled by a successor elected by the Board of Directors.
- f. In the event of a vacancy in the position of Immediate Past President, the position shall remain vacant; the President may appoint individuals to fulfill roles assigned to that position.

# 221 ARTICLE VII BOARD OF DIRECTORS

# 222 Section 1. Authority and Responsibility

- The Board of Directors shall be the administrative body of DDHA and is vested with full power
- 224 to supervise and conduct all business of DDHA. The Board of Directors shall determine its
- business policies within the limits of these bylaws, shall actively promote its purposes, and shall
- have discretion in the disbursement of its funds. The Board of Directors shall act on behalf of
- the Membership. The Board of Directors may adopt such rules and regulations for the conduct
- of its business as shall be deemed advisable and may appoint such agents as it may consider
- 229 necessary to fulfill its responsibilities. The Board of Directors shall provide reports to the
- 230 Membership.

# Section 2. Composition

- The Board of Directors shall be composed of:
- 233 a. President, President-Elect, First Vice-President, Second Vice-President, Secretary,
- Treasurer, Immediate Past President, as elected by the Membership and,
- 235 b. One trustee of TDHA (or their alternates as defined in Article XI Section 3.)
- 236 c. And all committee chairs.
- 237 d. No person shall have more than one vote, even should the person hold more than one office.

# 239 **Section 5. Meetings**

a. Regular Meetings. The Board of Directors shall meet at least three times each year in
 regular meetings with the dates determined by the Board of Directors.

- b. **Special Meetings**. Special meetings of the Board may be called by the President or upon written request of any three members of the Board of Directors.
- c. **Open Meetings.** Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be open meetings to the membership and invited guests unless the information to be discussed is deemed to be of a confidential nature as determined by the President. Such meetings or portions of meetings may be conducted in closed session at the discretion of the President. The information related in these meetings shall be confidential to the extent determined by the President and information released to persons not so designated by the President shall be in violation of these Bylaws.

# 251 d. **Meeting Virtually**.

252

253

254

255

256

257

258

259

260

265

266

267

268

269

270271

- 1. <u>Authority.</u> The Board of Directors, Councils and Committees may meet virtually, or may make provisions for individuals to join an existing meeting through the use of a conference telephone, electronic, or other communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other and such participation shall constitute a member's presence at such meeting.
- 2. <u>Notice</u>. Notwithstanding anything set forth to the contrary in these Bylaws, notice of any meeting to be held by conference call or other electronic means shall be delivered to all members of the Board a minimum of forty-eight (48) hours prior to the meeting.

# 261 Section 6. Quorum

One-third (1/3) of the total voting membership of the Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Board.

# 264 Section 7. Ballots

In matters that require urgency and where a meeting is not critical to a decision, a vote may be conducted by electronic mail (email); however, should a negative vote be cast, the matter shall be considered "not adopted" and the question brought before a virtual, regular, or special meeting of the Board. All email votes shall be reported to the Board by the Secretary and recorded in the minutes of the next meeting of the Board of Directors.

# ARTICLE VIII EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

# 272 Section 1. Authority and Responsibility

- 273 The Executive Committee shall have emergency power to act for the BOD between BOD
- 274 meetings and shall report to the BOD its actions. It shall not act apart from the BOD unless
- 275 specified in the Bylaws or by the BOD.

# 276 **Section 2. Composition**

- 277 The Executive Committee shall be composed of the President, the President-Elect, the First Vice
- 278 President, the Second Vice President, the Secretary, the Treasurer, and the Immediate Past
- 279 President, should there be one.

### 280 Section 3. Meetings

281 The Executive Committee shall meet upon the call of the President, with majority consensus, or 282 upon the request of three members. Virtual meetings of the Executive Committee as defined in 283 Article VIII, Section 5.d, shall be permitted.

284

285 286

287

288

289

290

291

292

293

301

302

303

304

305

306

307

308

309

311

# **ARTICLE IX COMMITTEES**

# **Section 1. Standing Committees**

Standing Committees: The standing committees of DDHA shall be: Audit, Budget and Finance, Bylaws, Communications, Community Outreach, Corporate Relations, DDHA Trustees, IOH, Membership, Nominating, Professional Development, Resolutions, Scholarship, Student Connections, TDHA Delegation, Tex HyPAC, Ways & Means, and Website Maintenance

# **Section 2. Special Committees**

- 294 The President or the Board of Directors may establish such special committees as may be
- 295 necessary in the operation of the DDHA and shall determine the membership and
- 296 responsibilities for such committees.

### 297 Section 3. Authority/Responsibility

- 298 The authority and responsibilities for each Committee shall be as prescribed by the Board of
- 299 Directors and as listed in DDHA's Facilitation Documents.

### 300 Section 4. Composition/Membership

- The action establishing a standing committee shall set forth the committee's purpose, authority, composition, and the qualifications required for membership on the committee.
  - All Committees of DDHA, both standing and special, shall be comprised of not less than three members who are voting members of DDHA. The chairpersons and members of standing Committees shall be appointed by the President, unless otherwise provided herein, and approved by the Board of Directors. In the event that cooperative efforts with other groups make the appointment of one or more non-members desirable, such appointments shall be made only with the specific approval of the Board of Directors.
- 310 The President and President-elect shall serve as ex-officio members of all Committees of DDHA, both standing and special, except for Nominations and tellers committees.
- 312 At the discretion of the President, an elective officer may be appointed annually to each d. 313 Committee of DDHA to advise and serve as liaison with the Board of Directors.

# Section 5. Policies and Procedures

315 The Board of Directors shall develop and approve policies and procedures for the operation of 316 all standing committees. All standing committees shall report to the Board of Directors.

317

318			
319			ARTICLE X DELEGATES AND ALTERNATES TO TDHA
320	Secti	on 1.	Number
321 322	a.	TDHA	A shall be represented in the TDHA House of Delegates by at least one delegate. A shall notify DDHA of the number of delegates to which DDHA is entitled. In the
323			nce of a Delegate, an officially selected alternate may be seated.
324	b.		number of alternate delegates elected may be up to one half of the total number of
325		_	rates determined by the TDHA Bylaws. The alternates receiving the highest number
326			tes will be members of the official DDHA delegation attending the TDHA Annual
327			erence. Funding for TDHA alternate delegates will be determined by the DDHA
328		budg	et.
329	Secti	on 2.	Qualifications
330	a.	TDHA	A delegates and alternates shall be voting members in good standing.
331	b.	The F	President and President Elect shall automatically serve as delegates to TDHA.
332	c.	Cand	idates for delegates and alternates shall have a minimum of two years DDHA
333		expe	rience and service.
334	d.	The T	DHA Trustee serves as the chair of the Delegation.
335	e.	Cand	idates for delegates and alternates shall acknowledge the duties and financial
336		respo	onsibilities of TDHA delegates and alternates prior to nomination and election.
337	Secti	on 3.	Nominations and Elections
338	a.	Nomi	inations for TDHA delegates shall be made by a nominating committee, following
339			cation of their qualifications by the nominating committee.
340	b.		er nominations may be made from the floor subject to verification of qualifications
341			e nominating committee.
342	c.	•	erson may be nominated for TDHA delegate without their permission.
343	d.		delegates and alternates shall be elected by plurality vote of the DDHA
344			bership.
345	Secti	on 4.	Duties of TDHA Delegates and Alternate Delegates
346			ites and alternate delegates shall perform such duties as described in the TDHA
347		_	committee Facilitation Document.
348	Secti	on 5.	Reporting
349	a.	The T	DHA Trustee shall compile a written report in person at all quarterly TDHA
350	u.		ings. The Trustee will also submit an annual report to the TDHA HOD packet. The
351			al report shall be given at the next TDHA Annual Conference.
352	Secti	on 6.	Resignation or Removal
353	a.	Anv d	delegate or alternate may resign at any time by giving written notice to the
354			dent or Board of Directors. Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified

- or, if no time is specified, at the time of acceptance thereof as determined by the President.
- 357 b. Any delegate or alternate may be removed for cause by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the
  358 body which elected said delegate or alternate or by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Board
  359 of Directors for violation of these Bylaws, the Code of Ethics of the profession, any
  360 lawful rule or practice duly adopted by DDHA, or any other conduct deemed by the
  361 Board of Directors to be prejudicial to the best interests of DDHA.
- 362 c. Any delegate or alternate who is suspended or expelled from membership or is
   363 determined to be ineligible, shall be deemed to have automatically resigned from such
   364 delegation upon the date the ineligibility, suspension, or expulsion becomes effective.

# Section 7. Vacancies

365

371372

- 366 a. In the event of a vacancy in delegates to TDHA Annual Conference, the alternate 367 receiving the highest number of votes shall be first appointed to fill the vacancy; further 368 vacancies shall be filled in order of number of votes received.
- 369 b. In the event of a vacancy in alternate delegates to TDHA Annual Conference, the vacancy may be filled by the Executive Committee. A plurality shall elect.

# **ARTICLE XI GENERAL PROVISIONS**

# 373 **Section 1. Bonding**

- The President and Treasurer or anyone whom the Board of Directors shall deem necessary shall be boarded. The average of boarding shall be presided by the budget of DDUA.
- be bonded. The expense of bonding shall be provided by the budget of DDHA.

# 376 **Section 2. Scholarships**

- 377 DDHA may award scholarships annually to one or more dental hygiene students. Guidelines and
- 378 recipients shall be approved by the Board of Directors. The Scholarship Fund shall be
- administered by the Treasurer under the supervision of the Board of Directors and all monies in
- such fund shall be used for the sole purpose of awarding scholarships.

# 381 Section 3. Fiscal Year

- The fiscal year of DDHA shall be determined by the Board of Directors.
- 383 **Section 4.** Ethics
- 384 The professional conduct of each member of the Association shall be governed by the Code of
- 385 Ethics of the ADHA.

# 386 Section 5. Use of Electronic Communication

- Unless otherwise prohibited by law, any action to be taken or notice delivered under these
- 388 Bylaws may be taken or transmitted by electronic mail or other electronic means; and any
- action or approval required to be written or in writing may be transmitted or received by
- 390 electronic mail or other electronic means.

392		ARTICLE XII INDEMNIFICATION	
393	The Association shall indemnify all past and present officers, trustees, directors, employees,		
394	committee, council, and task force members and all other volunteers of the Association to the		
395	=	ermitted by law. The Association shall be entitled to purchase insurance for such	
396		tion of officers and directors to the full extent as determined by the Board of	
397	Directors.		
398 399		ARTICLE XIII DISCIPLINARY ACTION/TERMINATION OF MEMBERSHIP	
400	Section 1.	Grounds for Discipline	
401	The Associat	tion may discipline a member for any of the following reasons:	
402	a.	Failure to comply with these Bylaws, the ADHA's Code of Ethics for Dental	
403	-	Hygienists, or any other rules or regulations of the Association;	
404	b.	Conviction of a felony or a crime related to, or arising out of, the practice of	
405		dental hygiene or involving moral turpitude;	
406	c.	Suspension, revocation, or forfeiture by any state, province, or country of the	
407		member's right to practice as a dental hygienist; or	
408	d.	Unprofessional conduct considered prejudicial to the best interests of, or	
409		inconsistent with, the purposes of the Association.	
410	Section 2.	Procedures	
411	Discipline m	ay include, but not be limited to, censure, suspension, probation, and expulsion.	
412		action may be taken provided that a statement of the charges shall have been sent	
413	•	mail to the last recorded address of the member at least fifteen (15) days before	
414		s to be taken. This statement shall be accompanied by a notice of the time and	
415	•	meeting at which the charges shall be considered, and the member shall have the	
416		to appear in person and/or to be represented by counsel and to present any	
417		uch charges before action is taken by the DDHA. Such disciplinary actions shall be	
418		n accordance with procedures established by the DDHA Board of Directors.	
419 420	•	or expulsion can be approved by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Board of Directors.	
420 421		ivileges, and interests of a member in the Association shall cease upon termination hip for any reason.	
421 422	or members	nip for any reason.	
423		ARTICLE XIV PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY	
424	The rules co	ntained in the current edition of <i>Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised</i> shall govern	
425		ion in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent	
426		as Act, these Bylaws and any special rules of order the Association may adopt.	
427		,	
428		ARTICLE XV AMENDMENTS	
429	Section 1.	Proposed Amendments	
430	Proposed ar	nendments to these Bylaws may be submitted to the Bylaws Committee or Board o	
431	Directors. Th	nese Bylaws may be adopted at any DDHA general membership meeting provided	
432	that;		

- 433 a. All amendments or corrections are supplied through the Bylaws Committee in writing.
- When previous notice is given thirty (30) days' prior to the DDHA monthly meeting of the membership, a two-thirds (2/3) vote in the affirmative is necessary for adoption.
- 436 c. Proposed Bylaws not previously given thirty (30) days' notice may be introduced in any DDHA meeting with three-fourths (3/4) vote to consider this motion and three-fourths (3/4) vote to adopt.

# **Section 2.** Notice

- Notice of intent to amend these Bylaws shall be given at least thirty (30) and no more than sixty
- 441 (60) days prior to DDHA monthly meeting at which such amendments are to be considered.
- Such notice shall include a general description of the proposed amendment. Notice shall be
- 443 given by:
- 444 a. Publishing it on DDHA website and
- b. Sending it to all members by mail or electronic communications.

# **Section 3. Effective Date**

Any action relative to changes in these Bylaws shall become effective upon the date provided in the proposed change or if no date is set forth, the effective date shall be the date upon which the change is adopted.

# **ARTICLE XVI DISSOLUTION**

In the event of the dissolution of the Association, the Board of Directors shall, after paying or making provision for the payment of all of the liabilities of the Association, distribute all the remaining assets of the Association (except any assets held by the Association upon condition requiring return, transfer or other conveyance in the event of dissolution, which assets shall be returned, transferred or conveyed in accordance with such requirements) to the ADHA, or, if the ADHA is no longer in existence, exclusively for the purposes of the Association in such manner, or to such organization or organizations as shall at the time qualify as a tax-exempt organization or organizations recognized under Sections 501(c)(3) or 501(c)(6) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended or the corresponding provisions of any future United States Internal Revenue statute, as the Board of Directors shall determine. Any such assets not so disposed of shall be disposed of by the court of general jurisdiction of the county in which the principal office of the Association is then located, exclusively for such purposes in such manner, or to such organization or organizations that are organized and operated exclusively for such purposes, as said court shall determine.

# CODE OF ETHICS FOR DENTAL HYGIENISTS (ADHA Code of Ethics)

# 1. PREAMBLE

As dental hygienists, we are a community of professionals devoted to the prevention of disease and the promotion and improvement of the public's health. We are preventive oral health professionals who provide educational, clinical, and therapeutic services to the public. We strive to live meaningful, productive, satisfying lives that simultaneously serve us, our profession, our society, and the world. Our actions, behaviors, and attitudes are consistent with our commitment to public service. We endorse and incorporate the Code into our daily lives.

# 2. PURPOSE

The purpose of a professional code of ethics is to achieve high levels of ethical consciousness, decision making, and practice by the members of the profession. Specific objectives of the Dental Hygiene Code of Ethics are:

- \*to increase our professional and ethical consciousness and sense of ethical responsibility.
- \*to lead us to recognize ethical issues and choices and to guide us in making more informed ethical decisions.
- \*to establish a standard for professional judgment and conduct.
- \*to provide a statement of ethical behavior the public can expect from us.

The Dental Hygiene Code of Ethics is meant to influence us throughout our careers. It stimulates our continuing study of ethical issues and challenges us to explore our ethical responsibilities. The Code establishes concise standards of behavior to guide the public's expectations of our profession and supports dental hygiene practice, laws, and regulations. By holding ourselves accountable to meeting the standards stated in the Code, we enhance the public's trust on which our professional privilege and status are founded.

# 3. KEY CONCEPTS

Our beliefs, principles, values, and ethics are concepts reflected in the Code. They are the essential elements of our comprehensive and definitive code of ethics, and are interrelated and mutually dependent.

# 4. BASIC BELIEFS

We recognize the importance of the following beliefs that guide our practice and provide context for our ethics:

- \*The services we provide contribute to the health and well being of society.
- \*Our education and licensure qualify us to serve the public by preventing and treating oral disease and helping individuals achieve and maintain optimal health.
- \*Individuals have intrinsic worth, are responsible for their own health, and are entitled to make choices regarding their health.
- \*Dental hygiene care is an essential component of overall health care and we function interdependently with other health care providers.
- \*All people should have access to health care, including oral health care.
- \*We are individually responsible for our actions and the quality of care we provide.

# FUNDAMENTAL PRINCIPLES

These fundamental principles, universal concepts, and general laws of conduct provide the foundation for our ethics.

537 *Universality*538 The principle

524

525

526

527

528

529

530

531

532

533

534

535

536

539

555

556

The principle of universality expects that, if one individual judges an action to be right or wrong in a given situation other people considering the same action in the same situation would make the same judgment.

540 Complementarity

- The principle of complementarity recognizes the existence of an obligation to justice and basic human rights. In all relationships, it requires considering the values and perspective of others before making decisions or taking actions affecting them.
- 544 Ethics
- Ethics are the general standards of right and wrong that guide behavior within society. As generally accepted
- actions, they can be judged by determining the extent to which they promote good and minimize harm. Ethics
- 547 compel us to engage in health promotion/disease prevention activities.
- 548 Community
- This principle expresses our concern for the bond between individuals, the community, and society in general. It
- leads us to preserve natural resources and inspires us to show concern for the global environment.
- 551 Responsibility
- Responsibility is central to our ethics. We recognize that there are guidelines for making ethical choices and accept responsibility for knowing and applying them. We accept the consequences of our actions or the failure to act and are willing to make ethical choices and publicly affirm them.

# 6. CORE VALUES

- We acknowledge these values as general guides for our choices and actions.
- 557 Individual Autonomy and Respect for Human Beings
- People have the right to be treated with respect. They have the right to informed consent prior to treatment, and they
- have the right to full disclosure of all relevant information so that they can make informed choices about their care.
- 560 *Confidentiality*
- We respect the confidentiality of client information and relationships as a demonstration of the value we place on
- individual autonomy. We acknowledge our obligation to justify any violation of a confidence.
- 563 Societal Trust
- We value client trust and understand that public trust in our profession is based on our actions and behavior.
- 565 Nonmaleficence
- We accept our fundamental obligation to provide services in a manner that protects all clients and minimizes harm
- to them and others involved in their treatment.
- 568 Beneficence
- We have a primary role in promoting the wellbeing of individuals and the public by engaging in health
- promotion/disease prevention activities.
- 571 Justice and Fairness
- We value justice and support the fair and equitable distribution of healthcare resources. We believe all people
- should have access to high-quality, affordable oral healthcare.
- 574 *Veracity*
- We accept our obligation to tell the truth and expect that others will do the same. We value self-knowledge and seek truth and honesty in all relationships.
- 577 7. STANDARDS OF PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY
- We are obligated to practice our profession in a manner that supports our purpose, beliefs, and values in accordance
- with the fundamental principles that support our ethics. We acknowledge the following responsibilities:

580	To Ourselves as	s Individuals
581	10 om serves as	*Avoid self-deception, and continually strive for knowledge and personal growth.
582		*Establish and maintain a lifestyle that supports optimal health.
583		*Create a safe work environment.
584		*Assert our own interests in ways that are fair and equitable.
585		*Seek the advice and counsel of others when challenged with ethical dilemmas.
586	T 0 1	*Have realistic expectations of ourselves and recognize our limitations.
587	10 Ourselves as	s Professionals
588		*Enhance professional competencies through continuous learning in order to practice according to
589		high standards of care.
590		*Support dental hygiene peer-review systems and quality-assurance measures.
591		*Develop collaborative professional relationships and exchange knowledge to enhance our own
592		lifelong professional development.
593	To Family and	
594		*Support the efforts of others to establish and maintain healthy lifestyles and respect the rights of
595		friends and family.
596	To Clients	
597		*Provide oral healthcare utilizing high levels of professional knowledge, judgment, and skill.
598		*Maintain a work environment that minimizes the risk of harm.
599		*Serve all clients without discrimination and avoid action toward any individual or group that may
600		be interpreted as discriminatory.
601		*Hold professional client relationships confidential.
602		*Communicate with clients in a respectful manner.
603		*Promote ethical behavior and high standards of care by all dental hygienists.
604		*Serve as an advocate for the welfare of clients.
605		*Provide clients with the information necessary to make informed decisions about their oral health
606		and encourage their full participation in treatment decisions and goals.
607		*Refer clients to other healthcare providers when their needs are beyond our ability or scope of
608		practice.
609		*Educate clients about high-quality oral healthcare.
610		* Recognize that cultural beliefs influence client decisions
611	To Colleagues.	
612	10 Concugues.	*Conduct professional activities and programs, and develop relationships in ways that are honest,
613		responsible, and appropriately open and candid.
614		*Encourage a work environment that promotes individual professional growth and development.
615		*Collaborate with others to create a work environment that minimizes risk to the personal health
616		and safety of our colleagues.
617		*Manage conflicts constructively.
618		·
		*Support the efforts of other dental hygienists to communicate the dental hygiene philosophy of
619		preventive oral care.
620		*Inform other healthcare professionals about the relationship between general and oral health.
621		*Promote human relationships that are mutually beneficial, including those with other healthcare
622		professionals.
623	To Employees a	and Employers
624		*Conduct professional activities and programs, and develop relationships in ways that are honest,
625		responsible, open, and candid.
626		*Manage conflicts constructively.
627		*Support the right of our employees and employers to work in an environment that promotes
628		wellness.
629		*Respect the employment rights of our employers and employees.
630	To the Dental H	Hygiene Profession
631		*Participate in the development and advancement of our profession.
632		*Avoid conflicts of interest and declare them when they occur.
633		*Seek opportunities to increase public awareness and understanding of oral health practices.
634		*Act in ways that bring credit to our profession while demonstrating appropriate respect for
635		colleagues in other professions.

636 \*Contribute time, talent, and financial resources to support and promote our profession. 637 \*Promote a positive image for our profession. 638 \*Promote a framework for professional education that develops dental hygiene competencies to 639 meet the oral and overall health needs of the public. 640 To the Community and Society... 641 \*Recognize and uphold the laws and regulations governing our profession. 642 \*Document and report inappropriate, inadequate, or substandard care and/or illegal activities by 643 any healthcare provider, to the responsible authorities. 644 \*Use peer review as a mechanism for identifying inappropriate, inadequate, or substandard care 645 and for modifying and improving the care provided by dental hygienists. 646 \*Comply with local, state, and federal statutes that promote public health and safety. 647 \*Develop support systems and quality-assurance programs in the workplace to assist dental 648 hygienists in providing the appropriate standard of care. 649 \*Promote access to dental hygiene services for all, supporting justice and fairness in the 650 distribution of healthcare resources. 651 \*Act consistently with the ethics of the global scientific community of which our profession is a 652 part. 653 \*Create a healthful workplace ecosystem to support a healthy environment. 654 \*Recognize and uphold our obligation to provide pro bono service. 655 To Scientific Investigation... 656 We accept responsibility for conducting research according to the fundamental principles underlying our ethical 657 beliefs in compliance with universal codes, governmental standards, and professional guidelines for the care and 658 management of experimental subjects. We acknowledge our ethical obligations to the scientific community: 659 \*Conduct research that contributes knowledge that is valid and useful to our clients and society. 660 \*Use research methods that meet accepted scientific standards. 661 \*Use research resources appropriately. 662 \*Systematically review and justify research in progress to insure the most favorable benefit-to-risk 663 ratio to research subjects. 664 \*Submit all proposals involving human subjects to an appropriate human subject review

665

668	
669	
670	
671	
672	
673	
674	
675	
676	
677	
678 679	
680	
681	
682	
683	
684	
685	

- \*Secure appropriate institutional committee approval for the conduct of research involving animals.
- \*Obtain informed consent from human subjects participating in research that is based on specifications published in Title 21 Code of Federal Regulations Part 46.
- \*Respect the confidentiality and privacy of data.
- \*Seek opportunities to advance dental hygiene knowledge through research by providing financial, human, and technical resources whenever possible.
- \*Report research results in a timely manner.
- \*Report research findings completely and honestly, drawing only those conclusions that are supported by the data presented.
- \*Report the names of investigators fairly and accurately.
- \*Interpret the research and the research of others accurately and objectively, drawing conclusions that are supported by the data presented and seeking clarity when uncertain.
- \*Critically evaluate research methods and results before applying new theory and technology in practice.
- \*Be knowledgeable concerning currently accepted preventive and therapeutic methods, products, and technology and their application to our practice.